F /L E D

SID J. WHITE

JUL 20 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITIZENS NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, HENRY W. HANFF, MELVIN C. DRAFT, AUSTIN L. FILLMON, PANDURANG Z. KAMAT, LESTER MALLET, JAMES M. MARLOWE, DENNIS L. MURPHY, RALPH W. SHANNON, THOMAS D. STELNICKI, in their individual capacities and as directors,

Case No. 85,923

Petitioners,

v.

District Court of Appeal, 2nd District - No. 94-03217

LOUE E. STOCKWELL, JR., and CAMILLE L. LAROSE,

Respondents.

Discretionary Proceeding to Review a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

Petitioners' Brief on the Merits

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners, Citizens National Bank and Trust Company

("Citizens National Bank" or "the Bank") and certain directors of
the Bank 1 (collectively, "Defendants") have brought this appeal
to challenge a limited, but significant ruling by the Second

District Court of Appeal that was certified to be in conflict
with a decision of the Third District and that runs afoul of
provisions of the National Bank Act precluding actions arising
out of the termination of bank officers.

Respondents Loue E. Stockwell, Jr. and Camille L. LaRose ("Stockwell" and "LaRose," or "Plaintiffs") are former officers of Citizens National Bank. [R 55, 56, 59; App. 3, 4, 7]. 2 Citizens National Bank is a national bank organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America. [R 54; A 2]. Stockwell and LaRose brought this action in the circuit court to challenge both their termination as officers of the Bank and the Bank's refusal to pay severance benefits under Plaintiffs' employment contracts.

Plaintiffs' employment agreements provided for employment terms of ten (10) years, commencing on February 25, 1988, and

-1-

Henry W. Hanff, Melvin C. Draft, Austin L. Fillmon, Pandurang Z. Kamat, Lester Mallett, James M. Marlowe, Dennis L. Murphy, Ralph W. Shannon, and Thomas D. Stelnicki, who have been sued in their individual capacities and as directors of the Bank.

^{2'} Citations to the Record on Appeal are designated "R ___." Citations to appellants' appendix are designated "App. __." Citations to briefs, motions, memorandums and court orders refer to those filed with or entered by the Second District in this case.

further provided for the payment of severance benefits in the event of early termination. [R 55, 56, 74, 77, 78, 83, 86, 87; App. 2, 3]. Specifically, the agreements provided that in the event the Bank terminated Plaintiffs without cause prior to the expiration of the ten-year term of the agreements, the Bank would be obliged nonetheless to pay Plaintiffs the compensation that they would have received had they remained employed for the balance of the term of their agreements. [R 55, 56, 74, 77, 78, 83, 86, 87; App. 2, 3]. Stockwell and LaRose obtained these lucrative contracts from the Bank after they had organized the Bank and while they were already operating the Bank as its managing officers. [R 54, 55].

On September 2, 1993, the Board of Directors of the Bank terminated Plaintiffs' employment. [R 59; App. 3]. Plaintiffs allege that the Bank terminated Plaintiffs without cause. [R 59; App. 3]. The Bank declined to pay severance benefits to Plaintiffs or other benefits associated with continuing employment. [R 59; App. 3]. Within days of that action, Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in the circuit court challenging under state law the Bank's termination of their employment as officers of the Bank and refusal to honor the "golden parachute" provisions of those agreements.

If this case were to proceed beyond Defendants' motion to dismiss, Defendants would prove that Plaintiffs were fired for cause, contrary to the allegations of the Amended Complaint. For purposes of resolving Defendants' motion to dismiss, however, Defendants are obliged, of course, to assume for the sake of argument that the allegations of the Amended Complaint are true.

Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint on the ground that Plaintiffs' state law claims were preempted by the National Bank Act, 12 U.S.C.A. § 24 (Fifth) (1989 & Supp. 1995). [R 32-36; App. 3]. On the eve of the hearing on Defendants' motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs amended their Complaint. Plaintiffs filed a seven-count Amended Complaint challenging Defendants' actions in terminating, refusing to honor, or interfering with Plaintiffs' employment agreements with the Bank. Six of those counts asserted claims under state law. One count purported to state a claim under a federal statute that prohibits retaliation against federal jurors. [R 53-93; App. 3, 4].

On motion by the Defendants, the circuit court dismissed the Amended Complaint with leave to amend. The trial court specifically held that all counts, other than the one federal count for retaliation, were preempted by Section 24 (Fifth) of the National Bank Act. [R 329-30; App. 6]. In reaching this result, the circuit court followed the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>International Bank of Miami v.</u>

Bennett, 513 So. 2d 1294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), cert. denied, 485

U.S. 988, 108 S.Ct. 1291, 99 L.Ed. 2d 501 (1980), which held that the National Bank Act preempts state law claims challenging the termination of officers of a national bank and renders void any contractual promise to pay severance benefits upon early termination of such officers. [R 329-30, App. 6]. The circuit court dismissed Plaintiffs' federal retaliation claim on other grounds.

Stockwell and LaRose declined to amend the Amended Complaint and instead stipulated to the entry of a final order of dismissal with prejudice. [R 326]. Subsequently, they filed an appeal in the Second District Court of Appeal of the trial court's dismissal of all of Plaintiffs' state law counts. Plaintiffs did not appeal the circuit court's dismissal of their federal retaliation count.

On appeal, the Second District affirmed the trial court's dismissal of all of the counts of the Amended Complaint except one -- namely, Count I for "Breach of Contract." This count alleged that Defendants breached Plaintiffs' employment agreements with the Bank by refusing to pay Plaintiffs severance benefits specified in the contracts. In reaching this result, the Second District explicitly disagreed with the Third District's decision in Bennett and certified conflict on this point. [App. 2].

On June 16, 1995, Defendants filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the Second District's ruling concerning Count I of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. As we now show, this Court should approve the approach taken by the Third District in Bennett and accordingly reverse the Second District's decision insofar as it pertains to Count I of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is well settled and not disputed in this case that the corporate affairs of national banks, such as Citizens National Bank, are governed exclusively by the National Bank Act. Section 24 (Fifth) of that Act confers upon the directors of national banks the unfettered discretion to dismiss or replace officers at the "pleasure" of the directors.

The courts have uniformly held that Section 24 (Fifth) precludes the enforcement of contracts that purport to assure officers employment for a term of years. Likewise, the courts have uniformly held that terminated officers may not sue national banks to recover unpaid compensation or other damages arising out of early termination of their employment. Otherwise, the prerogative of national banks to fire officers at will would be rendered illusory.

In this case, Plaintiffs seek to enforce severance provisions of their employment contracts that provide for the recovery, inter alia, of the compensation that would have been paid to Plaintiffs had they served out the remainder of their contract terms. The wages and benefits Plaintiffs seek in their action for "severance" benefits are the same or virtually the same sums that Plaintiffs are concededly precluded from recovering as "damages" for wrongful discharge. The Third District in Bennett, following a line of other decisions like it, held that a terminated officer may not accomplish indirectly what

-5-

he could not achieve directly by bringing suit to recover monies as "severance" benefits that he is precluded from recovering as "damages" for wrongful discharge. The Second District has now held to the contrary.

Although the Second District held that Plaintiffs are precluded under Section 24 (Fifth) of the National Bank Act from suing to recover damages arising out of the early termination of their employment -- including contract damages -- the Second District nonetheless permitted Plaintiffs to enforce their claims for "severance" benefits and thus to obtain through the back door what they could not get through the front door. The Second District's decision on this point disregards well-settled canons of statutory construction and frustrates the legislative intent of the National Bank Act.

The Second District reached this extraordinary result by relying upon an informal ruling (contemplating "reasonable" employment agreements) that was promulgated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") some sixteen years before Bennett was decided and by relying upon a small number of cases from other jurisdictions that likewise relied upon that OCC ruling. The OCC, however, has recently announced its intention to withdraw that ruling. In any event, the OCC ruling has no application to severance benefits.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Second District's ruling on Count I of the Amended Complaint and approve the Third District's decision in Bennett.

-6-

ARGUMENT

Because Citizens National Bank is a national bank, its corporate affairs -- and, in particular, the Bank's authority to terminate Bank officers -- are regulated under the National Bank Act, not state law. In this regard, the National Bank Act, 12 U.S.C.A. § 24 (Fifth) (1989 & Supp. 1995) provides that a national bank shall be empowered "[t]o elect or appoint directors, and by its board of directors to appoint a president, vice president, cashier and other officers, define their duties, require bonds of them, and fix the penalty thereof, dismiss such officers or any of them at pleasure, and appoint others to fill their places." (Emphasis added). As the courts have recognized, "[t]he purpose of [Section 24 (Fifth)] was to give [national banks] the greatest latitude possible to hire and fire their Chief Operating Officers, in order to maintain the public trust." Mackey v. Pioneer National Bank, 867 F. 2d 520, 526 (9th Cir. 1989) (emphasis added), quoting Copeland v. Melrose National Bank, 241 N.Y.S. 429, 430 (N.Y. App. Div. 1930), aff'd, 173 N.E. 898 (1930).

The courts have also recognized that "[i]t is idle to say that the statute merely gives the power to discharge the official, without the right to do so." <u>Id</u>. Thus, "[t]he grant of the power carries with it the untrammelled right to its exercise, <u>free from penalty</u>." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added).

In view of the fact that Section 24 (Fifth) expressly declares that national bank officers serve at the "pleasure" of

-7-

the bank's directors, the courts have <u>consistently</u> held that contracts that purport to guarantee national bank officers employment rights for a term of years violate the National Bank Act and are thus void as against public policy. <u>E.g.</u>,

<u>International Bank v. Bennett</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Mackey v. Pioneer National Bank</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Kemper v. First National Bank</u>, 418 N.E. 2d 819, 821 (Ill. App. Ct. 1981).

By the same token, the courts have <u>consistently</u> held that national bank officers cannot sue for damages arising out of early termination under an employment agreement because this would violate the express directive of Section 24 (Fifth) that officers serve at the "pleasure" of the directors. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Mackey v. Pioneer National Bank</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Kemper v First National Bank</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>City National Bank v. Brown</u>, 599 So. 2d 787 (La. Ct. App. 1992), <u>writ denied</u>, 604 So. 2d 999 (La. 1992); <u>Ambro v. American National Bank & Trust Co.</u>, 394 N.W. 2d 46 (Mich. Ct. App. 1986). As the court in <u>Copeland</u> explained, "[i]t is idle to say that the statute merely gives the power to discharge the official, without the <u>right</u> to do so." 241 N.Y.S. at 430 (emphasis added).

It follows that directors can freely terminate a national bank officer without incurring liability for compensation or benefits for the remainder of the bank officer's contract term, or other damages associated with the early termination of employment. Again, the courts have consistently so held. E.g., authorities cited supra, at pp. 7 - 8. Indeed, Plaintiffs conceded before the Second District that "[t]he intent of the

National Bank Act of 1874 was to give national banks the discretion to terminate an officer without fear of liability for wrongful termination or breach of contract based on the termination." (Appellants' [Plaintiffs'] Initial Brief, p. 6) (emphasis added).

That being the case, the Third District in Bennett and other courts have correctly concluded that national bank officers may not obtain indirectly -- through the guise of suing for "severance" benefits -- the unpaid compensation that they could not obtain <u>directly</u> through a suit for "damages" for early termination. International Bank of Miami v. Bennett, supra; Copeland v. Melrose National Bank, supra; Rohde v. First Deposit National Bank, 497 A. 2d 1214 (N.H. 1985); Kemper v. First National Bank, supra. Suits for "damages" and suits for "severance" benefits amount to "six of one, or half a dozen of another" in terms of their impact on national banks and the policies of the National Bank Act. In either case, the bank is saddled with the liability to pay substantial sums of money as a condition of exercising the bank's conceded discretion to terminate officers at "pleasure." To acknowledge the ostensible existence of the power to fire officers, without ensuring the right to do so free from liability would be to permit a frontal assault on the directive of the National Bank Act that directors have the "untrammeled right" to discharge directors at will, "free from penalty." Mackey, supra, 867 F. 2d at 526.

National Bank. In that case, as here, the plaintiff officer's employment agreement provided that in the event of the officer's termination prior to the expiration of the full term of his employment contract, he would be paid a sum equal to the total compensation that he would receive thereunder for its unexpired period. The New York Supreme Court held (in a decision later affirmed by the state's highest court, the New York Court of Appeals), that a dismissed national bank officer cannot recover severance benefits under an employment agreement with the bank.

The court held that enforcing the severance provision would amount to the same thing as affording the discharged officer the right to sue for damages for wrongful discharge. If the officer were to prosecute successfully a suit for such damages, he would be entitled to recover, among other things, the compensation that he would have been paid if he had served out the full term of his employment contract. The court recognized that, as a practical matter, enforcing the severance provision calling for payment of compensation due for the remainder of the contract term would accomplish the same result as permitting a damages suit for wrongful discharge, thus discouraging and deterring the bank's board of directors from firing the bank officer as they saw fit.

Thus, the court held:

Plaintiff's engagement was merely a hiring, terminable at the will of the directors. The intent of the statute [Section 24 (Fifth)] was to place the fullest responsibility upon the directors by giving them the right to discharge such officers at pleasure. A contract for a definite term which forbids such discharge except under penalty of paying

compensation for the full term violates the statute, and is unenforceable.

Copeland, supra, 241 N.Y.S. at 430 (emphasis added). The court explicitly admonished that to enforce the severance provision "would be to countenance a patent subterfuge designed to circumvent the law." Id. (emphasis added). "It is idle to say that the statute merely gives the power to discharge the official, without the right to do so. The grant of the power carries with it the untrammeled right to its exercise, free from penalty." Id. (emphasis added).

Finally, the court in <u>Copeland</u> explained that the National Bank Act was the "enabling" act for national banks and that the charter of a national bank must be deemed restricted by the limitations of the National Bank Act. <u>Id</u>. at 429-31.

Accordingly, regardless of the reason a bank might enter into an agreement eroding its prerogative to dismiss officers at "pleasure," such an agreement was void as <u>ultra vires</u> and against public policy:

The doctrine that no recovery can be had upon the contract is based upon the theory that it is for the interest of the public that corporations should not transcend the limits of their charters; that the property of stockholders should not be put to the risk of engagements which they did not undertake; that if the contract be prohibited by statute everyone dealing with the corporation is bound to take notice of the restrictions in its charter, whether such charter be a private act or a general law under which corporations of this class are organized.

Id. at 431.

In the present case, as in <u>Copeland</u>, the Plaintiffs seek to enforce severance provisions of their employment agreement that

provide, inter alia, that in the event of early termination, "the Bank shall pay to Executive an amount equal to Executive's base salary (based on Executive's base salary in effect on the date of termination) for the remainder of the term of the Employment Agreement payable in equal monthly installments over the balance of the term of this Agreement, or in lump sum, in the discretion of Executive." [R 74, 77, 78, 83, 86, 87; App. 2] (Emphasis added). Here, as in Copeland, permitting Plaintiffs to sue to enforce the severance provisions of Plaintiffs' contracts is tantamount to allowing Plaintiffs to sue to recover damages for termination of their employment prior to the expiration of their contract term. As far as the Bank is concerned, it makes no difference whether the Bank must pay a money judgment for "severance" benefits or as "damages" for breach of Plaintiffs' contracts for employment. The dollars awarded will have the same impact on the Bank; and, in either case, the Bank's statutory right to terminate bank officers as they see fit, without incurring monetary liability as a result of that termination, will be thwarted.

Indeed, it is well settled that, in interpreting a statute, the courts must take pains to avoid a construction that will undermine the legislative purpose. McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So. 2d 48, 51 (Fla. 1974) ("It is a fundamental rule of construction that a statute be construed in such a way so as to effectuate legislative intent."); Wassenaar v. Office of Personnel

Management, 21 F.2d 1090, 1096 (Fed. Cir. 1994) ("All statutes

must be construed in light of their purpose.") (quoting <u>Best</u>

<u>Power Technology Sales Corp. v. Austin</u>, 984 F.2d 1172, 1175 (Fed. Cir. 1993)). Indeed, it is fundamental that a federal statute will operate to preempt state law that interferes with the accomplishment of the <u>objectives</u> of that statute, even in the absence of <u>express</u> preemption. <u>Hines v. Davidowitz</u>, 312 U.S. 52, 67, 61 S.Ct. 399, 404, 85 L.Ed. 581 (1941); <u>Stephen v. American</u>

<u>Brands, Inc.</u>, 825 F.2d 312, 313 (11th Cir. 1987).

It is equally well established that the courts must eschew a construction that will produce absurd results and that courts thus will not permit persons to accomplish indirectly what statutes directly prohibit. E.g., McKibben, 293 So. 2d at 51 ("[c]onstruction of a statute which would lead to an absurd result should be avoided"); Wassenaar, 21 F.3d at 1094 ("we recognize that 'an absurd construction of a statutory provision should be avoided'") (quoting Witco Chem. Corp. v. United States, 742 F.2d 615, 619 (Fed. Cir. 1984)); Jackson v. First National Bank of Gainsesville, 430 F.2d 1200, 1201 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S. 947, 91 S.Ct 933, 28 L.Ed 2d 230 (1971) (Bank's attempt to circumvent statutes by assigning otherwise prohibited tasks to a subsidiary of its holding company "is of no avail as this contractual arrangement merely accomplishes indirectly what the bank is prohibited from doing directly"). In construing Section 24 (Fifth) to preclude enforcement of the severance benefits provision in Copeland, the court properly followed these fundamental precepts.

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