NA

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J WHITE
AUD 16 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

Chief Deputy Clerk

CITIZENS NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, HENRY W. HANFF, MELVIN C. DRAFT, AUSTIN L. FILLMON, PANDURANG Z. KAMAT, LESTER MALLETT, JAMES M. MARLOWE, DENNIS L. MURPHY, RALPH W. SHANNON, THOMAS D. STELNICKI, in their individual capacities and as directors,

CASE NO. 85,923

Petitioners,

VS.

District Court of Appeal, 2d District - No. 94-03217

LOUE E. STOCKWELL, JR. and CAMILLE L. LAROSE,

Respondents.

Discretionary Proceeding to Review a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

Respondents' Brief on the Merits

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

The appellate court held that the National Bank Act did not invalidate the severance pay provisions of Reynolds' contract. *Id.* The court placed great weight on the interpretive regulation at 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220, which had been in

effect since 1971. *Id.* Applying what the court called "rudimentary principles of statutory construction," it found Danville Bank's position to be indefensible. *Id.* at 222. The appellate court even considered assessing costs against the Danville Bank in light of the complete lack of merit to the appeal. *Id.* at 223. Although *Reynolds* is somewhat distinguishable because Reynolds resigned from his position, the court placed great weight on 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 and stressed the bank's duty to apply the clear meaning of the regulation. *Id.* at 222. The court did not decide whether the severance benefits would be payable if Reynolds had been terminated.

Schmidt v. Park Avenue Bank, N.A., 558 N.Y.S. 2d 779 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1990) also cites 12 C.F.R. §7.5220. In Schmidt, the Park Avenue Bank entered into a written employment contract with Gaillard Schmidt as Executive Vice-President. *Id.* at 779. The contract provided for severance pay upon termination. *Id.* Schmidt alleged in his complaint that various actions of the bank resulted in his constructive termination. *Id.* Park Avenue Bank refused to pay any severance benefits and Schmidt filed suit. *Id.* Park Avenue Bank filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action pursuant to the National Bank Act. *Id.*

Park Avenue Bank argued that the National Bank Act allowed the bank to dismiss officers without incurring any liability and the liquidated damages clause in the employment contract impermissibly limited the bank's ability to terminate its officers. *Id.* at 780. Schmidt, however, pointed to 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 and its express provision allowing banks and officers to enter into reasonable

employment contracts. *Id.* Schmidt differentiated between cases dealing with a bank's power to discharge and cases dealing with the payment of severance benefits after discharge. *Id.* Schmidt argued that payment of severance benefits is a "reasonable term and condition" of such an agreement, as authorized by 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. *Id.*

The appellate court agreed with Schmidt and held that Schmidt stated a cause of action. *Id.* at 780. As required, the court accepted Schmidt's allegations of termination as true for the purpose of deciding the motion to dismiss. The court considered this issue from the perspective of an officer who had been terminated -- not one who resigned. *Id.* at 780. Thus, the court faced the potential conflict between 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 and the National Bank Act and determined that no conflict existed.

The court noted that the National Bank Act has been consistently interpreted to allow a national bank to discharge an officer "without incurring liability for breach of contract or wrongful termination." *Id.* The court further noted that the cases on this issue decided prior to the 1971 regulation are silent as to the issue of severance benefits. *Id.* Although the bank was free to terminate Schmidt without fear of liability for wrongful termination, the court held that the bank could not avoid its contractual liability for severance benefits. *Id.*

The only other case citing 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 is *Ewert v. Drexel National Bank*, 649 N.E. 2d 487 (III. App. 1995). Ewert was the president and chief operating officer of Drexel National Bank. *Id.* at 488. Ewert and Drexel Bank

entered into a three year employment contract providing for a salary of \$100,000 per year. *Id.* The contract permitted Drexel Bank to fire Ewert at any time without cause. *Id.* However, the contract also contained severance provisions which provided that even if terminated early, Ewert would be entitled to receive his full salary under the employment contract as severance pay. *Id.*

Drexel Bank terminated Ewert after less than three months of employment. *Id.* Drexel Bank continued to pay severance benefits for some time and then ceased payments under the authority of the National Bank Act. *Id.* at 489. The court held that the National Bank Act precluded a suit for wrongful termination but did not prohibit contract provisions which provide for severance benefits. *Id.* The court agreed with the trial court judge's remark that "...the issue is whether the bank is responsible for living up to obligations..." *Id.* at 490.

The *Ewert* court carefully considered the interaction of the National Bank Act and its clarifying regulation 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. *Id.* at 491. The court went on to distinguish the result in *Copeland*, finding that the result was now far less persuasive in light of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 promulgated in 1971. *Id.* at 492. Finally the court considered, discussed and applied the reasoning of *Reynolds* and *Schmidt*. *Id.* The court concluded that an officer of a national bank has the right to contract for severance benefits in a written employment contract. *Id.*

Citizens' only response to the persuasiveness of *Ewert* is that "[t]he *Ewert* court relied on *Schmidt* and *Reynolds*, *with no independent analysis...*" (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 28) (emphasis in original). In actuality, the court's

analysis was thorough, and a reading of the opinion belies Citizens' argument that *Ewert* contains no independent analysis. *Ewert* re-states the bank's arguments, considers the National Bank Act and its regulations, distinguishes the cases cited by the bank, analyzes *Reynolds* and *Schmidt* and explains their applicability. *Id.* at 491-93. Citizens' dismissal of *Ewert* as containing no "reasoning" or "independent analysis" is a fairly lame attempt to avoid a persuasive authority in a strikingly similar factual situation. *Ewert* is on-point and in harmony with the Second District's analysis on this issue.

Any other cases involving this issue either pre-date the 1971 regulation at 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 or completely disregard its effect. The *Bennett* opinion, which is in conflict with the Second District's decision below, does not discuss the impact of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. The *Bennett* court's disregard of this relevant regulation casts doubt upon its holding. When the interpretation of a statute such as the National Bank Act is at issue, it is always appropriate to refer to a clarifying regulation. *Koshlan v. Helvering*, 298 U.S. 441, 445 (1936). *Bennett* did not give full consideration to all of the applicable law. Under the circumstances, *Bennett* should not be given weight as controlling or even persuasive authority. *See*, *e.g.*, *Ewert v. Drexel National Bank*, 649 N.E. 2d 487 (III. App. 1995) (holding that the decision in *Copeland v. Melrose National Bank*, 173 N.E. 898 (N.Y. App. 1930) was not as persuasive given the promulgation of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 in 1971).

II. 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 does not circumvent the National Bank Act by allowing national bank officers to "indirectly" sue for wrongful termination or damages for early termination.

Citizens repeatedly argues that national bank officers should not be permitted to "obtain *indirectly* -- through the guise of suing for 'severance' benefits -- the unpaid compensation that they could not obtain *directly* through a suit for 'damages' for early termination." (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 9) (emphasis in original). Citizens asserts that this principle is what differentiates cases such as *International Bank of Miami v. Bennett*, 513 So. 2d 1294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) from the Second District's decision in this case and other cases cited by Stockwell & LaRose. Citizens contends that suits for damages for early termination and suits for freely contracted severance benefits are two different ways of expressing the same cause of action. (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 9).

According to Citizens, the seminal decision on this point is the 1930 decision in *Copeland v. Melrose National Bank*, 241 N.Y.S. 429 (N.Y. App. 1930), *aff'd* 173 N.E. 898 (1930). The New York Supreme Court held that a dismissed national bank officer could not recover severance benefits under an employment contract. *Id.* at 430. The court reasoned that allowing recovery under a severance provision would essentially permit the result forbidden by the National Bank Act. *Id.*

However, this decision was rendered 41 years before the promulgation of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220, which clarified the interpretation of the National Bank Act.

This regulation has an undeniable effect upon the interpretation of contract issues under the National Bank Act. As noted by the Illinois court in *Ewert v. Drexel National Bank*, 649 N.E. 2d 487, 492 (Ill. App. 1995), the *Copeland* decision is "not now persuasive even in the State of New York, after the enactment of the current regulation pursuant to the National Bank Act which allows a national banking organization association to enter into reasonable contracts with its employees," citing 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. The Second District, in the decision below, also distinguished cases following *Copeland* based upon their failure to consider the effect of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. (A-49).

Copeland also considered severance provisions in employment agreements to be *ultra vires* and in violation of the restrictions of the National Bank Act. Copeland, 241 N.Y.S. at 431. Copeland's conclusion that severance pay agreements violate the restrictions of the National Bank Act is questionable in light of the late clarification provided by 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. Copeland also stated that enforcing severance provisions "would be to countenance a patent subterfuge designed to circumvent the law." *Id.* at 430. Characterizing freely negotiated severance benefits as a "patent subterfuge" is a clear departure from the implications of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 and the case law interpreting that provision. It is also contrary to our society's basic belief in freedom of contract.

Considering the facts in this case, Citizens is actually the party attempting a subterfuge. Citizens and Stockwell & LaRose entered into a freely negotiated employment contract permitting termination without cause. However, Citizens

agreed to pay severance benefits as part of the written employment agreement. Stockwell & LaRose relied upon these terms of the contract, accepted employment and served faithfully until terminated. Once terminated, Citizens then refused to pay the promised severance benefits. The clear subterfuge in this case is not by Stockwell & LaRose who merely negotiated mutually agreeable severance benefits, but upon Citizens who enticed Stockwell & LaRose with severance benefits which they apparently had no intention of honoring. There is an element of deceit in the bank's conduct.

Citizens' arguments that permitting severance benefits will effectively thwart national banks' ability to terminate bank officers is without merit. (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 12). Citizens contends that national banks will face the same liability in actions for severance benefits as they would in actions for breach of an employment contract, as forbidden by the National Bank Act. (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 12). However, permitting national bank officers to contract for severance benefits does not thwart national banks' ability to terminate their officers. National banks are still free to terminate their officers, but are obligated to pay any agreed upon severance benefits. The amount of severance benefits paid and the potential impact on the bank are completely within the control of the bank. National banks can choose to limit their liability for severance pay if they deem necessary by refusing to agree to such benefits or limiting the amounts of such benefits at the time of entering into the employment contract. However, banks which agree to pay severance benefits to

entice employment of one unwilling to work without such benefits should not be able to disavow them later when such benefits become payable. The interpretation urged by Stockwell & LaRose does not force national banks to pay severance benefits, nor does it deprive banks of their right to terminate an officer without cause. It only forces them to live up to their freely negotiated commitments.

III. Citizens' attacks on 12 C.F.R. §7.5220 and the Second District's public policy analysis are without merit.

Citizens' attacks on the Second District's decision below are two-pronged.

Citizens challenges the Second District's reliance on 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 and challenges the court's public policy analysis. First, Citizens argues that 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 is "entitled to no weight in this proceeding whatsoever."

(Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 18). Citizens cites an announcement in the Federal Register that the OCC "intends to withdraw this ruling." (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 18) (emphasis in original). From this statement, Citizens concludes that this regulation is entitled to no weight.

However, Citizens' reasoning fails in two respects. First, the OCC has announced an intention to withdraw this rule but has not yet withdrawn the rule. The rule continues to be in full force and effect as 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. In fact, the OCC has requested comments on the withdrawal, indicating that a final determination has not been made. 60 Fed. Reg. 11924. Until the OCC issues its final ruling on this matter, no weight can be given to this announcement of

intention to withdraw. It is axiomatic that this regulation is still in full force and effect until officially withdrawn, particularly since the regulation may not be withdrawn at all.

Secondly, even if the regulation is withdrawn, the withdrawal does not affect the current state of the law. The OCC stated in a comment specific to § 7.5220 that this ruling is being removed only because it is "unnecessary to reiterate this standard." 60 Fed. Reg. 11930. Furthermore, the OCC was clear that the withdrawal of this regulation was not intended to change the law on this issue in any way. *Id.* The OCC stated:

The OCC's proposed removal or transfer of these sections does not imply any alteration of the underlying authority for national bank activity. The interpretive rulings the OCC proposed to remove or transfer are grounded in statutory authority which remains unchanged. Unless otherwise noted, these proposed changes to part 7 are not intended to effect any change in the substance or influence of the interpretive rulings beyond that described in this preamble.

Id. Thus, force and effect of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 remains unchanged. Citizens' characterization of 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220 as "obsolete" has no basis in any of the authority Citizens has cited. (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 22) The only absolute feature in this case is the gloss that Citizens asks this court to put on the National Bank Act. That gloss may have been practical in 1874, when America was still recovering from the civil war, but it is clearly obsolete today.

This announcement by the OCC actually strengthens the impact of the standard set out in 12 C.F.R. § 7.5220. The OCC is considering eliminating § 7.5220 only because it deems the regulation unduly repetitive of standards

already set out in existing *statutory* authority. Thus, the OCC takes the position that the power of national banks to enter into employment agreements on reasonable terms in grounded in the statutory authority of the National Bank Act itself. 60 Fed. Reg. 11930.

Citizens' other arguments regarding the relative weight to be given an "interpretive ruling" carry little persuasive authority given that the substance of this interpretive ruling is firmly grounded in statutory authority. *Id.* The withdrawal of this regulation, if it ever occurs, does not change the substance or interpretation of existing law. The principle of law that national banks have the ability to contract with their officers on reasonable terms exists and will continue to exist in full force and effect.

Citizens also argues that the Second District has improperly drawn upon its own view of what makes good banking policy. (Citizens' Brief on the Merits, p. 17). However, Citizens presents no evidence that the Second District acted in contravention of legislative intent. Divining legislative intent is one of the tasks courts routinely undertake. The Second District noted that the National Bank Act did not address the issue of severance benefits. (A-49). Nothing cited by Citizens has identified any legislative authority to the contrary. The Second District's ruling does not conflict with any express statements of legislative will. Nor does the decision nullify Section Fifth of the National Bank Act, which still remains in full force and effect by prohibiting actions for wrongful termination or breach of contract for early termination. In fact, the Second District expressly

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